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Education – The Early Years 

 

Inspired by humanists, and helped by the development of the printing press, 

education in England expanded greatly in the sixteenth century.  More communities 

developed grammar schools and other independent or charity schools.  In Hook 

Norton and most villages, however, education was scanty, with religious teaching 

only, mainly in church porches and chapels.  Such a charity school took place in the 

north transept, now the vestry, of St Peter’s from 1762 to 1808.  Sibford Gower had a 

school but, as was the custom, only for children of its parish.  For most children fuller 

education was not available until well into the nineteenth century. 

 

Private Education 

Many communities had a Dame School which took place in the home of the teacher, 

who was usually female.  Often the teaching was limited to the children, sitting on  

 

Magdalen Lodge 
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wooden benches, reciting the catechism and other sections of the Prayer Book. They 

persisted in Hook Norton longer than other parts of England.  There were Dame 

schools at Down End (run by Mrs Scarsbrook, in 1829), and on the High Street at 

Magdalen Lodge (run by Mrs Minchin in 1890), and at Dial House.  Young children 

walked daily to these schools from distant parts of the parish including Temple Mill.   
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A variety of other private enterprises developed that were called schools; many 

parents acknowledged that they were paying for a child minder. When the children 

from these “schools” entered National schools at the age of six or seven, they were 

far behind their peers who had begun at the age of four. 

For wealthier farmers and the gentry, better education was affordable.  The 

1851 census recorded governesses at Park Farm, Nil Farm and Bridge House.  New 

railways made boarding schools accessible, and they provided a pathway to 

secondary education, and even to university.  Boarding schools have always been 

an option for the rich – Winchester College admissions from 1393 to 1442 included 

52 entrants from Banburyshire, including two from Hook Norton and two from 

Swerford. 

 

National and British Schools 

In 1811 the National Society for Promoting the Education of the Poor in the 

Principles of the Established Church was formed, which created National Schools.  

They were funded by the Church of England.  Three years later there followed the 

British and Foreign School Society for ñthe Education of the Labouring and 

Manufacturing Classes of Society of Every Religious Persuasion” to promote 

teaching the scripture and its principles in a non-denominational manner through 

British Schools.  Most of their funding came from Nonconformists.  In many areas, 

there was considerable rivalry between the National and British Schools, and 

between their respective teacher-training institutions.  The British schools made 

much use of the “Lancasterian”, or monitorial, system of using older children with 

some education to teach younger children, thereby providing economical basic 

education. 

Resistance to the development of elementary schools was considerable.   

Parents were unenthusiastic because they wanted the boys to work and the girls to 

help at home or learn money-earning skills: knitting, embroidery, making bonnets 

and lace.  Many gentry disliked the idea of working-men’s children rising above their 

station.  In 1815 the rector of neighbouring Wigginton protested that the National 

Society’s plans could not be introduced because “no one in this village” was suitable  
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for such education; they were “not capable of understanding”.   (A hundred years 

later Oxfordshire County Council flaunted similar spirit when it declined a large grant 

from the Carnegie foundation for public libraries: one alderman argued, successfully, 

“Oxfordshire people don’t want to read”). 

In 1833 parliament voted a grant of £30,000 for elementary education.  At that 

time when the village population was about 1500, Hook Norton had three Dame 

schools taking 22 boys and 23 girls, a National school for 30 girls, and four other day 

or boarding schools for 55 boys and 37 girls.  The two Sunday schools had 200 

children and 12 teachers.1  By 1858, of the elementary schools in Oxfordshire, 370 

were National and 18 British; Hook Norton had one of each.  The historian G.M. 

Trevelyan wrote that, in mid-nineteenth-century English villages, there were “no 

efficient schools”. 

 

Hook Norton British School 

The village’s British School was probably established in 1842,2 and closed about 

1870, when the pupils transferred to the National School.  Few records remain.  A 

letter from Mr John Blakeman, the Baptist Minister, appealing to the Council on 

Education for funds in 1844 describes the governance and the problems.  It was “a 

small school on the British and Foreign plan”, “maintained by weekly payments from 

the children and subscriptions from my congregation”.  The average attendance was 

40, principally girls. The school was under the “superintendence of a Committee of 

Ladies”.  Mr Blakeman sought “a small grant for school requisites such as maps, 

Books, etc.  These we are greatly in need of.  Our funds will not allow us to purchase 

them”.  The following year, seven ladies, headed by Elizabeth Wheeler and Sophia 

Blakeman, wrote to acknowledge receipt and use of “your Lordships’” grant of seven 

pounds towards these necessary purchases.   Although the Baptist Minister and his 

                                                           
1 Dickins, Hook Norton, 157. 
2 This date of foundation is given by the Baptist minister, John Blakeman, in a letter to the British and Foreign 
Schools Society’s  Committee of Council on Education, dated 21 May 1844 (National Archives, ED 103/14 
C569336).  Doubt arises because a list of British Schools compiled by the BFSS in 1897 states that the Hook 
Norton school was established in 1829, but we lack corroborating evidence. 
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congregation took the lead in supporting the school, there was also Methodist and 

Quaker involvement.3 

Funding was a persistent problem.  In 1858 the school reported to the Royal 

Commission on Popular Education that it could not afford the usual class monitors – 

“The want of efficient monitors is most felt” – and “a better classroom would also be 

a great advantage”.  The school received further grants from the British and Foreign 

School Society in 1855, 1858, 1862 and 1867.  The site of the school is uncertain, 

but probably stood in Tite End, at the foot of Tite Lane and Down End.4 

 

Hook Norton National School 

Hook Norton’s National School had been founded at some time before 1833 and in 

1855 acquired a new building on the High Street, to the west of the church. 

Constructed of ironstone with a slate roof, in Victorian gothic style, and with an 

adjacent schoolmaster’s house, it was built to last; it now serves as the Village 

Library and a meeting hall.  It was built on land given, together with £500, by Miss 

Davis of Swerford Park at the south of Hook Norton parish.  After the opening in 

1855, she continued to take an active interest in “her” school and would visit as often 

as twice a week.  As she entered, sometimes with her house guests, the children 

would stand, the girls curtsy, and chant a polite greeting: “Good morning, Miss 

Davis”. 

The school had separate entrances for girls and boys, respectively on the 

north and east aspect, not on the High Street. The girls’ playground was at the back, 

the boys’ at the front.  In the main part of the school were two large rooms at right 

angles to each other; the larger was heated by two stoves, the other by one.   There 

were wall to wall benches for the children.  The windows were high; the children 

could not see outside.  The larger room was subdivided by green baize curtains into 

three class areas.  In later times it was used as the school hall. 

                                                           
3 John Blakeman to [the Committee of Council on Education], 21 May 1844, and Elizabeth Wheeler et al. to the 
Committee of Council, 11 June 1845 (National Archives, ED 103/14, C569336). 
4 Dickins, Hook Norton, 181, states that it was the National School that stood in Tite End.  This seems likely to 
be a typo because it is so unlikely that, at that period, the Anglican school would be so far from the parish 
church and so close to where the Methodist church then stood, at the bottom of the present cemetery. 
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The National School about 1880 
 

Courtesy: Village Museum and Archive 

National schools were governed by a board of managers made up of clergy, 

gentry and local farmers. They were usually diligent, but none the less acted in ways 

that perpetuated the social hierarchy.  Religious instruction had priority, and children 

had to learn the catechism (“an instruction to be learned of every person, before he 

be brought to be confirmed by the bishop”), and it was alleged to be particularly 

important for them to remember “to order myself lowly and reverently before my 

betters”.  Children were taught to know their place in society: a boy could be scolded 

for lifting his cap to the vicar’s daughter, as an equal, instead of touching the brim, as 

an inferior; and to learn the tasks that would make them better servants and workers 

The closure of the British school was helpful for the funding of the National 

(i.e., C of E) school, but the transferred pupils were problematic for its head, since 

“their extreme ill-behaviour reacts most unfavourably on the school at large”.  The 

Baptist Hall to the west of the Baptist Chapel, was completed in 1872 after the 

transfer.  It has been a Sunday school and centre for many Baptist and village 

activities, and continues to be a valued amenity. 

     The most prestigious National school prize was the Bishop of Oxford’s Prize for 

scripture; the most useful, and rarely awarded, was the Never Absent Never Late 
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prize, a silver watch.  One year it was won by a Baptist; he was told to go to the back 

door of the rectory to collect it from the servants.  Later the prize winner was a C of E 

lad; he was presented with it by the rector, in front of the whole school. 

 

Teacher training 

At first, teachers were few, untrained and poorly paid.  They tended to be too old or 

inefficient to do other work.  Much use was made of pupil teachers, especially in 

British Schools.  In 1840 the Oxford diocese established a male teacher training 

school in Oxford (it later moved to Culham), and in 1845 one for ladies at Kidlington.  

The aim was to provide a three-year training for 15-18 year olds, charging them £20 

a year.  In the early years most stayed for a few months; and only ten per cent for 

more than two years.  Nevertheless those teachers had had some training.  

John Hughes who resigned from the headship of Hook Norton National 

School in 1866 had trained at Culham.  As the first occupant of Old School House, 

he had endured the reluctance of parents to send their children to school, performed 

the customary extra tasks of a village schoolmaster: reading documents, writing 

letters, making wills for the villagers, measuring and calculating acreage for land 

owners, Church duties with choir and music, at the beck and call of the rector - and 

had then found himself socially in no-man’s land, accepted by neither gentry nor 

workers.  He wrote that he was naturally of “retiring disposition, and my occupation 

has fostered it, and I felt myself pained often by an unwillingness to associate with 

my equals in age, etc.  It was chiefly to place myself where such association was 

unavoidable that I was willing to give up the work”.  Female teachers suffered similar 

isolation, but for working-class country girls teaching offered an independent, paid 

career preferable to domestic service.  During the nineteenth century nearly three-

quarters of teachers were female. 

 

The 1870 Education Act and Board Schools 

The Act, introduced by the Liberal government, was the first to deal with the 

provision of education in Britain. Although state funding for education had been 

steadily increasing for some decades, it was distributed unevenly, and there was 
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controversy about whether the state should pay for schools run by particular religious 

societies.  

The legislation demonstrated its commitment to mass education by allowing 

the existing schools to carry on unchanged, whilst establishing Educational Boards 

to build Board Schools in communities without a National or British School (together 

referred to as Voluntary Schools).  The Boards were locally elected bodies which 

drew their funding from the local rates.  Religious teaching in Board Schools had to 

be non-denominational.  The new Act had a far greater impact on the new industrial 

communities than the old villages, most of which continued with their National and 

British Schools. 

Rural boards run by parishes had only one or two schools to manage; they 

favoured economy and the release of children for agricultural labour.  Town boards 

were more rigorous and some developed facilities for arts, crafts, gymnastics and 

domestic science.  Hook Norton’s National School changed little. 

 

Teachers Log-Books 

For more than 100 years, successive head teachers of Hook Norton School kept 

detailed records.  Though it was a legal requirement to keep log-books, the content 

was not prescribed; it depended on the Head.  All Hook Norton head teachers seem 

to have had fine handwriting.  The records of Mr Etchells are particularly vivid.  He 

succeeded Mr Hughes in 1866 and his wife was an assistant. He resigned with 

sadness in 1882, ostensibly because the managing board would not allow his 

daughter to substitute for his wife as teacher.  But it is clear that there were 

disagreements about the High Church teaching of the new rector, Mr Cox.  

Conformity with a rector’s views and practices were crucial in an age when the rector 

had a major role in daily school teaching and directed the management board, and 

when the children attended so many services and activities in the nearby church. 

     In 1868, Mr Etchells prepared for the visit of the school inspector. In the past year 

145 boys and girls had been on the register. Most were aged between four and ten; 

there were thirteen over the age of 12; after the age of ten the pupils were mainly 

girls.  Two thirds of children stayed less than two years at the school; the third 
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staying longer were mainly girls.  In the past year there had been a total of 423 

sessions; each day being divided into a morning and an afternoon session. Average 

attendance per pupil was 110 sessions; many children attended mornings only, and 

irregularly. 

Non-attendance was a dominant concern for the teacher: most children paid 

1½d per week, a few 1d; and the £60 annual grant depended on attendance figures 

and pupil achievement.  Reasons and excuses for non-attendance were 

multitudinous, quaint, and understandable.  The school year included short 

Christmas and Easter holidays, before a long harvest holiday from August to early 

October; however, many children began the new teaching year late, because of work  

 

Staff of the National School about 1910 

From left to right, back row: Miss Badger (head of infants), Miss Wearing, Miss Brockbank, 

 Miss Robinson, Miss George, the Rev Freeman (Rector). 

Front row: Miss Corby, Mr Clarkson (Headmaster), Mrs Clarkson. 

with crops and land.  A few weeks’ later children would disappear to pick potatoes or 

apples.  Illness caused long absences; epidemics of the then common infectious 

diseases decimated attendance figures; the school closed down for three weeks 

because of an outbreak of measles.   Weather conditions, lack of clothing, minding 

baby, helping mother, births and funerals took their toll.  An interestingly large  
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number of absences resulted from church, village and club fairs, fetes, treats; and 

happenings – an auction, a fire, a band, soldiers marching.  (Many decades later, in 

1944, children were given the day off school to watch the tanks and troops pass 

through the village on their way to embark for Normandy).   Mr Etchells recognised 

that parents condoned such absences.  In addition, the teacher had to contend with 

the pupils having to attend services in church for Saints' days, festivals and each 

morning of holy week.  It was a worrying era for a teacher essentially paid by results. 

Discipline and the maintenance of reasonable behaviour was the second 

biggest problem.  It had been a major reason for the departure of the Mr Hughes, the 

first headmaster.  The children of the navvies building the railway caused extra 

problems: they are “addicted to swearing … their habits are low “.  Detention and 

corporal punishment were usual, and sometimes caused parental complaint.  

However, parental indifference would be the main surprise for teachers of today.  It 

was not just the gentry on the management board who thought that children should 

limit their expectations and their skills to manual crafts, labour and service. 

 

Consolidation 

Standards and facilities improved slowly.  Additional buildings and land close to the 

school were adapted.  An infants’ section was developed to the rear, in the red brick 

building now used by the Pre-school Play Group, and a school field created on what 

is now the village playground.   (In the following century various fields and pitches 

were used for school sports: cricket at Park Farm, football beyond The Railway 

Hotel, and athletics in the field that became the Sports and Social Club.)  In essence 

that part of Hook Norton to the west of the churchyard became a school campus.  

Ambitions were limited, and this was reflected by the curriculum: religious education 

was dominant; reading, writing and arithmetic followed.  Needlework and crafts 

formed a large part of the education for girls and, poignantly, tended to gain the most 

praise at the annual inspection.  In the Village Museum a beautifully embroidered 

sampler by an eight year-old proclaims, “The Needle is the Woman’s Plough”. 

     Nationally, by 1870, 80% of men and 70% of women had some reading 

ability; far fewer could write. The 1876 Commission on Factories recommended 
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compulsory education in order to stop child labour, but it was not until 1880 that 

school attendance became compulsory, at first for children between the ages of five 

and ten.  Parents had to pay for it until 1891.  Many children still went to work after 

school hours, and much of the widespread truancy resulted from the parents’ need 

for income from their children.  The school leaving-age rose in 1893 to age11, and in 

1899 to age12. 

By the end of the century, average attendance at the village school had risen 

to 172, with an additional 92 younger children in the infants' building.  The head, Mr  

 

The infantsô school, with Miss Badger, headmistress, at top right. 
Courtesy: Village Museum and Archive 

 

Clarkson, had four assistants, with an additional two or three for the infants. At that 

time when the village population numbered about 1300, over 260 children attended 

the village school. Today, the village population is over 2000, and the school 

attendance of 220 includes those from three neighbouring villages where schools 

have closed.  Though Hook Norton is still a village with many young families, it is 

difficult for current residents to imagine the vibrant, child-filled, lanes and fields of the 

past. 
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The late decades of the nineteenth century were a time of great Victorian civic 

ventures; infrastructure including sanitation and housing improved, and so did the 

health of the nation.  The proportion of the population under 15 approached 40%; 

public education had to expand. 

 

© Roy Meadow     
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